INTERNATIONAL DRIVE MASTER
TRANSIT AND IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
d/b/a INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
BUSINESS IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT
(A COMPONENT UNIT OF ORANGE
COUNTY, FLORIDA)

**FINANCIAL STATEMENTS** 

As of and for the Year Ended September 30, 2017

And Reports of Independent Auditor



TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR	1 - 2
Management's Discussion and Analysis	3 - 7
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	
Government-Wide Financial Statements	
Statement of Net Position	8
Statement of Activities	9
Fund Financial Statements	
Balance Sheet – General Fund	10
Statement of Revenues Expenditures and	
Changes in Fund Balance – General Fund	11
Notes to Financial Statements	12 - 17
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION	
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in	
Fund Balance - Budget and Actual – General Fund	18
OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION	
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance –	
Budget and Actual – Municipal Service Taxing Units	19 - 20
SUPPLEMENTARY REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR	
Report of Independent Auditor on Internal Control over Financial Reporting	
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an	
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with	
Government Auditing Standards	21 - 22
Independent Auditor's Management Letter Report of Independent Accountant on Compliance with Local Government	23 - 24
Investment Policies	25



## **Report of Independent Auditor**

To the Advisory and Governing Board of International Drive Master Transit and Improvement District d/b/a International Drive Business Improvement District:

### **Report on the Financial Statements**

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities and the General Fund of International Drive Master Transit and Improvement District d/b/a International Drive Business Improvement District (the "District"), a component unit of Orange County, Florida, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, as listed in the table of contents.

### Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

### Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions.

#### **Opinions**

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the governmental activities and the General Fund of the District as of September 30, 2017, and the respective changes in financial position thereof for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

#### Other Matters

### Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion and analysis and General Fund budgetary comparison information, as listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquires of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquires, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

## Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements of the governmental activities and the General Fund. The Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - Municipal Service Taxing Units is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - Municipal Service Taxing Units is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*, we have also issued our report dated January 22, 2018, on our consideration of the District's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the District's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Orlando, Florida January 22, 2018

Chang Behoest wer

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As management of the International Drive Master Transit and Improvement District d/b/a International Drive Business Improvement District (the "District"), we offer readers of the District's financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the District's financial activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017.

#### **Overview of the Financial Statements**

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the District's basic financial statements. The District's basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary information in addition to the basic financial statements.

**Government-wide financial statements.** The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the District's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the District's assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the District is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the District's net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Also, capital assets are capitalized and depreciated on the statement of net position whereas related purchases are expensed on government fund financial statements.

**General Fund.** The General Fund is used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, the General Fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of the General Fund is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for the General Fund with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the District's near-term financing decisions. Both the General Fund balance sheet and the General Fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between General Fund and governmental activities.

The District adopts an annual appropriated budget for its General Fund. A budgetary comparison statement has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget.

**Notes to the financial statements.** The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of the basic financial statements.

**Other information.** In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain supplementary information.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

## **Government-wide Financial Analysis**

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial position. In the case of the District, assets exceeded liabilities by \$2,698,446 at the close of the most recent fiscal year. This compares with \$2,250,577 at the close of the previous fiscal year, an increase of \$447,869. This increase was comprised of an increase of \$147,015 in net investment in capital assets, an increase of \$183,543 in restricted net position and an increase of \$117,311 in unrestricted net position.

Cash and cash equivalents of \$2,493,268 makes up the majority of current and other assets, increasing \$272,460 during fiscal year 2017. The public safety program resulted in an \$187,392 increase in cash, and general operating results contributed to an \$85,068 increase in cash.

Restricted net position is related to the Master Transit Improvement District Taxing Units public safety program and the North International Drive Improvement Municipal Service Taxing Unit.

	Net Position				
		2017	2016		
Current and other assets	\$	2,658,488	\$	2,386,237	
Capital assets		392,918		253,364	
Total assets		3,051,406		2,639,601	
		_	,	_	
Current liabilities		341,336		369,611	
Noncurrent liabilities		11,624		19,413	
Total liabilities		352,960		389,024	
Net position  Net investment in capital assets		373,505		226,490	
Restricted		1,328,587		1,145,044	
Unrestricted		996,354		879,043	
Total net position	\$	2,698,446	\$	2,250,577	

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

### **Governmental Activities**

Governmental activities increased the District's net position by \$447,869 in fiscal year 2017, compared to an increase of \$612,246 seen in the prior fiscal year. Total revenues increased by \$247,809 from last year, primarily as a result of an increase in taxing unit revenues. Total expenses increased by \$412,186 as a result of a \$264,053 increase in transportation services expenses, a \$26,388 increase in general government expenses, a \$53,831 increase in public safety expenses, and a \$67,914 increase in planning and development expenses.

	Changes in Net Position					
		2017		2016		
Revenues						
Program revenues:						
Charges for services	\$	1,896,538	\$	2,154,192		
Total program revenues		1,896,538		2,154,192		
General revenues:						
Master service taxing units		6,468,466		5,963,240		
Interest		520		283		
Total general revenues		6,468,986		5,963,523		
Total revenues		8,365,524		8,117,715		
Expenses						
Program expenses:						
Transportation services		4,936,441		4,672,388		
General government		1,051,926		1,025,538		
Public safety		1,235,023		1,181,192		
Planning and development		694,265		626,351		
Total program expenses		7,917,655		7,505,469		
Changes in net position		447,869		612,246		
·		ŕ		,		
Net position beginning		2,250,577		1,638,331		
Net position ending	\$	2,698,446	\$	2,250,577		

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

### **Financial Analysis of the General Fund**

As noted earlier, the District uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.

The purpose of the District's governmental fund is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the District's financing requirements. In particular, unrestricted fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

The District's General Fund activities resulted in a \$317,130 increase in fund balance during fiscal 2017, as compared to a \$646,400 increase in fund balance during fiscal 2016. Revenues increased from \$8,117,715 to \$8,381,800, primarily due to general revenues from taxing units. Expenditures increased from \$7,471,315 to \$8,064,670, with transportation services expenditures increasing \$271,317, capital outlay increasing \$171,189, and public safety and other functional expenditures increasing \$150,849.

## **General Fund Budgetary Highlights**

The original budget was not amended during the current fiscal year. A positive budget variance of \$916,072 was experienced for the General Fund as a whole, with the following highlights:

- \$572,782 positive variance in transportation expenditures
- \$141,138 positive variance in charges for general government expenditures
- \$122,860 positive variance in planning and development expenditures
- \$48,302 positive variance in capital outlay expenditures
- \$29,041 positive variance in public safety expenditures

# **Capital Asset Administration**

The District's capital assets as of September 30, 2017 amount to \$392,918, a net increase of \$139,554 over 2016 after recording \$36,787 in fiscal 2017 depreciation expense. The District invested \$123,928 in new trolley shelters which were put into operation when acquired, invested \$44,831 in new trolley shelters which were put into storage for future use, and invested \$7,582 in office furniture and equipment. Fully depreciated capital assets with an acquisition value of \$4,500 were disposed of during the year.

# Capital Assets (net of accumulated depreciation)

	2017	2016
Trolley replacement inventory	\$ 71,322	\$ 26,491
Trolley shelters	270,649	166,251
Trolley markers	23,142	27,452
Office furniture & equipment	27,805	33,170
Total	\$ 392,918	\$ 253,364

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

#### **Economic Factors and Conditions**

Municipal Service Taxing Units (MSTUs) 1 & 2 had fiscal 2017 tax revenue increases of 10.03% and 7.70%, respectively, over fiscal 2016 due to continuing high property appraised values throughout the districts. MSTU 3 had fiscal 2017 tax revenues approximately equal to fiscal 2016 levels.

The District had a fiscal 2017 combined 17.45% decrease in trolley fare box revenue and pass sales, which is consistent with their reported 19.74% decrease in trolley ridership and is attributed to an increase in competition from ride-sharing services.

## **Requests for Information**

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the District's finances for all those with an interest in such. Questions concerning any of the information should be addressed to the Executive Director, 7081 Grand National Drive, Suite 105, Orlando, FL 32819.



# STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

ASSETS	
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 2,493,268
Accounts receivable (no allowance for doubtful accounts)	139,176
Prepaid items and other assets	26,044
Capital assets:	
Trolley replacement inventory	71,322
Trolley shelter and marker infrastructure	1,024,825
Office furniture and equipment	117,625
Accumulated depreciation	 (820,854)
Total assets	 3,051,406
LIABILITIES	
Current Liabilities	
Accounts payable	296,846
Accrued liabilities	29,986
Loans payable, current	7,789
Unearned revenue	6,715
Total current liabilities	 341,336
Noncurrent Liabilities	
Loans payable, long-term	 11,624
Total noncurrent liabilities	 11,624
Total liabilities	352,960
NET POSITION	
Net investment in capital assets	373,505
Restricted for:	
Public safety	1,316,149
North International Drive Improvement Municipal Service Taxing Unit	12,438
Unrestricted	 996,354
Total net position	\$ 2,698,446

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

Dua sua a		
Program expenses Transportation contacts	\$	4 026 441
Transportation services	Ф	4,936,441
General government		1,051,926
Public safety		1,235,023
Planning and development		694,265
Total program expenses		7,917,655
Program revenues		
Charges for services		1,896,538
Net program expenses		(6,021,117)
General revenues		
Master service taxing units		6,468,466
Interest income		520
Total general revenues		6,468,986
Change in net position		447,869
Net position - beginning of the year		2,250,577
Net position - end of the year	\$	2,698,446

BALANCE SHEET – GENERAL FUND

SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

ASSETS		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	2,493,268
Accounts receivable (no allowance for doubtful accounts)	•	139,176
Prepaid items and other assets		26,044
Total assets		2,658,488
LIABILITIES		
Accounts payable		296,846
Accrued liabilities		29,986
Unearned revenues		6,715
Total liabilities		333,547
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES		
Unavailable revenue		12,896
FUND BALANCE		
Nonspendable		
Prepaid items and other assets		26,044
Spendable		
Restricted for:		4 040 440
Public safety  North International Drive Improvement Municipal Service Taxing Unit		1,316,149 12,438
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Unassigned		957,414
Total fund balance		2,312,045
Total liabilities, deferred inflows and fund balance	\$	2,658,488
Amounts reported in the statement of net position differ from amounts reported above as follows:		
Fund balance - General Fund	\$	2,312,045
Amounts to be collected under receivables that are not available to pay for the current period's expenditures and are reported as a deferred inflow of resources in the General Fund.		12,896
		12,030
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not reported above.		392,918
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period		
and therefore are not reported in the funds.		(19,413)
Net position of governmental activities	\$	2,698,446

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE – GENERAL FUND

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

Revenues	•	0.400.400
Master service taxing units	\$	6,468,466
Charges for services Interest income		1,912,814 520
Total revenues		8,381,800
Expenditures		
Current:		
Transportation services		4,885,001
General government		1,028,923
Public safety		1,234,434
Planning and development		699,140
Capital outlay		208,698
Debt service:		
Principal		7,461
Interest		1,013
Total expenditures		8,064,670
Change in fund balance		317,130
Fund balance, beginning of year		1,994,915
Fund balance, end of year	\$	2,312,045
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:		
Net change in fund balance-General Fund	\$	317,130
Receivables uncollected within 60 days of year-end are unavailable to pay for current period expenditures and are reported as a deferred inflow of resources in the General Fund. At the prior year-end there was unavailable revenue of \$29,172, which was all collected in fiscal 2017. At the current year-end there was new unavailable revenue of \$12,896. This is the net change in unavailable revenue.		(16,276)
Repayment of loan principal is an expenditure in governmental funds, but repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. This is the amount of loan repayment during the current period.		7,461
Governmental funds report all capital outlays as expenditures. But in the statement of activities, the costs of capitalized assets are allocated over asset estimated useful life and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capitalized capital outlays exceeded depreciation.		139,554
Change in net position of governmental activities	\$	447,869
change in het position of governmental activities	Ψ	<del>4+1</del> ,009

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

**SEPTEMBER 30, 2017** 

### Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies

International Drive Master Transit and Improvement District d/b/a International Drive Business Improvement District (the "District") is an independent special district created pursuant to Article VII of the Florida constitution and Section 125.01(5) of the Florida Statutes through ordinances passed by Orange County, Florida and the City of Orlando, Florida. It was created by Orange County ordinance 92-37 dated November 10, 1992. Its primary activity is the administration of transportation and capital planning projects along certain segments of International Drive.

The District is funded primarily by ad valorem tax revenues collected and remitted by the Orange County Florida Tax Collector. The ad valorem taxes are assessed through three Municipal Service Taxing Units, described below, created in the International Drive area through ordinances by Orange County, Florida and the City of Orlando, Florida:

Master Transit Improvement District Taxing Unit, which may levy up to 0.3 mill per year; of this levy, 0.1 mill is used for general administration and operations of the District and 0.2 mill is used for funding public safety programs.

International Drive Bus Service Taxing Unit, which may levy up to 1.0 mill per year, is used to provide public transit services in the International Drive area.

North International Drive Improvement Municipal Service Taxing Unit, which may levy up to 0.2 mill per year, is used to improve and beautify portions of the International Drive area.

Each Municipal Service Taxing Unit described above may use funding for the purpose of funding other facilities and services for the benefit of its stakeholders and taxpayers.

The accounting policies of the District conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to independent special districts. The following is a summary of the more significant policies:

**Reporting Entity** – The District is a legally separate entity with no component units. However, two of its three governing board members are members from Orange County Board of County Commissioners and one member is from the City of Orlando; three of the five members of the District's Advisory Board are appointed by Orange County Board of County Commissioners and two are appointed by the City of Orlando. A major portion of the District's funding is derived from Orange County Municipal Service Taxing Units. Therefore, the District, for financial reporting purposes, is considered a component unit of Orange County, Florida. The financial statements of the District are included in Orange County, Florida's comprehensive annual financial report under a discrete presentation format.

**Basis of Accounting** – Government fund financial statements are organized for reporting purposes on the basis of a General Fund, the District's major fund, which accounts for all activities of the District and is accounted for using the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they become measurable and available as net current assets. "Measurable" means the amount of the transaction can be determined and "available" means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. The District considers all revenues available if collected within 60 days after year-end. Expenditures are recognized when the related fund liability is incurred.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

**SEPTEMBER 30, 2017** 

### Note 1 - Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.

**Restricted Net Position** – Assets restricted by an agreement with Orange County for specific purposes, net of related liabilities, are identified as restricted fund balance on the balance sheet and restricted net position on the statement of net position. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, the District's policy is to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.

**Capital Assets** – The District defines capital assets as assets with an initial, individual cost of \$750 or more and an estimated useful life in excess of two years. Such assets are recorded at cost in the government-wide financial statements. The District does not have donated fixed assets.

Infrastructure capital assets (such as bus stop markers and shelters and other assets that are immovable and of value only to the District) have been capitalized and depreciated in the same manner as other capital assets.

Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated lives ranging from 3 to 15 years. Accumulated depreciation has been recorded based on estimated depreciation since the date each capital asset was available for service.

**Budget** – On or before September 30 of each year, the District's Advisory and Governing Board adopts an annual budget sufficient to support the anticipated work program for the year. The budget includes revenues from all sources, including contracts, fees, and other fund sources legitimately available to the District. The District's Advisory and Governing Board can legally amend the budget to the extent deemed necessary, provided the budget remains in balance at the fund level. District management other than the Advisory and Governing Board cannot amend or transfer appropriations.

**Use of Estimates** – The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make use of estimates that affect reported amounts. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

#### Note 2 – Cash and cash equivalents and investments

The District's cash and cash equivalents consist of a \$2,506,306 repurchase agreement, invested through a "sweep" account, and demand deposits, net of outstanding checks, at September 30, 2017. The investment in the repurchase agreement is reported at amortized cost.

The District's investment policy allows for investments in Local Governmental Surplus Funds Investment Pool, Securities and Exchange Commission registered money market funds, savings accounts, certificates of deposit, repurchase agreements, and direct obligations of the United States government or its agencies and instrumentalities. The District's investment policy also limits the maturity of all purchased securities to no more than one year.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

# Note 3 – Changes in capital assets

The following is a summary of changes in capital assets during the year ended September 30, 2017:

		alance						Balance
		ober 1,	_		_		Sep	tember 30,
		2016	A	dditions	De	letions		2017
Governmental Activities								
Capital assets not depreciated:								
Trolley replacement inventory	\$	26,491	\$	44,831	\$	-	\$	71,322
Total capital assets not being depreciated		26,491		44,831		-		71,322
Capital assets being depreciated:								
Office furniture and equipment		114,543		7,582		(4,500)		117,625
Trolley shelters		632,101		123,928		-		756,029
Trolley markers		268,796		-				268,796
Total capital assets being depreciated	1	,015,440		131,510		(4,500)		1,142,450
Less accumulated depreciation for:								
Office furniture and equipment		81,373		12,947		(4,500)		89,820
Trolley shelters		465,850		19,530		-		485,380
Trolley markers		241,344		4,310		-		245,654
Total accumulated depreciation		788,567		36,787		(4,500)		820,854
Governmental activities capital assets	\$	253,364	\$	139,554	\$		\$	392,918

Depreciation expense amounted to \$36,787 during fiscal 2017. Of this amount, \$23,840 is included in transportation services expense and \$12,947 is included in general government expense on the statement of activities.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

**SEPTEMBER 30, 2017** 

### Note 4 - Loans Payable

On January 28, 2015, the District entered into two loans with Ford Credit for the purchase of two new vehicles, which serve as collateral for the respective loans. The term of each loan is for 60 months at an interest rate of 4.24%. Monthly payments are \$411 and \$295, respectively. Loans payable activity during the fiscal year ending September 30, 2017 was as follows:

# Loans Payable September 30, 2017

	ginning alance	Add	litions	Pa	yments	Ending alance	_	due	ounts within year
Ford F-150 Loan	\$ 15,630	\$	-	\$	(4,339)	\$ 11,291	;	\$	4,530
Ford Escape Loan	11,244		-		(3,122)	8,122			3,259
	\$ 26,874	\$	-	\$	(7,461)	\$ 19,413		\$	7,789

This is the schedule of loan payable activity in future years based on existing loans:

Fiscal Year	<u>Principal</u>	<u>Interest</u>	<u>Total</u>
2018	7,789	684	8,473
2019	8,132	342	8,474
2020	3,492	38	3,530
	\$ 19,413	\$ 1,064	\$ 20,477

### Note 5 – Risk Management

The District is exposed to various risks of loss related to tort; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters for which the District purchases commercial insurance.

The District did not reduce insurance coverages during the year ended September 30, 2017. No settlements have exceeded coverage levels in place during 2015, 2016 or 2017.

All health insurance claims are covered by Orange County, Florida's Self-Insurance Fund, a risk management pool to which risk is transferred in exchange for annual premium payments.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

**SEPTEMBER 30, 2017** 

#### Note 6 - Commitments

**Operating Leases** – The District is currently committed to various operating leases with terms in excess of one year. For the year ended September 30, 2017, the total lease expenditures were \$77,094. The following is the schedule of future minimum lease payments based on existing leases:

Fiscal year ending September 30:	A	Amount
2018	\$	76,273
2019		78,976
2020		79,677
2021		78,952
2022		74,356
Total future minimum lease payments		388,234

**Trolley Transportation Service** - The District has an agreement to pay the Mears Transportation Group through November 7, 2019 for trolley transportation service within the bus service area of International Drive. The agreement provides for hourly rates that increase or decrease by 85% of the annual percentage change in the Consumer Price Index on November 6<sup>th</sup> of each year through 2019. In addition, the hourly rates are subject to periodic fuel price adjustments not to exceed 4.75%.

Law Enforcement Services - The District has an agreement to pay the Orange County Sheriff's Office through September 30, 2017 for the Tourist Oriented Policing Special Squads Program (TOPS). This program provides law enforcement services in the portion of the District that lies within the unincorporated area of Orange County. The agreement is amended and extended on an annual basis. For fiscal year 2017, the annual fee was \$967,725.

## Note 7 - Postemployment Benefits

The District administers a single-employer defined benefit plan (the "Plan") for postemployment health care benefits. As part of its participation in Orange County, Florida's Self-Insurance Fund, the District provides payment of Medicare Part B premiums and a health insurance subsidy for retirees who participated in the District's medical plan in the amount of \$3 per month for each year of service up to a maximum of 30 years. Separate stand-alone financial statements of the Plan are not prepared.

There are no required employee contributions to the Plan and employer contributions are funded on a pay as you go basis. There were no employer contributions to the Plan during the year ended September 30, 2017, and there were no assets in the Plan at September 30, 2017. Due to insignificance, a corresponding obligation has not been presented on the District's financial statements.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

**SEPTEMBER 30, 2017** 

#### Note 8 – Governmental Fund Balances

Fund balance for the District is reported in classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent to which the District is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts of the fund can be spent. Fund balances are classified either as nonspendable or as spendable. Spendable fund balances are further classified in a hierarchy based on the extent to which there are external and internal constraints on the spending of these fund balances. These classifications are described as follows:

Nonspendable fund balances include amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in spendable form or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. As of September 30, 2017, the District had a nonspendable fund balance of \$26,044 related to prepaid items and other assets which are not expected to be converted to cash.

Spendable fund balances are classified based on a hierarchy of the District's ability to control the spending of these fund balances.

Restricted fund balances are fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes by external parties, such as creditors, grantors or contributors; constitutional provisions; or enabling legislation. As of September 30, 2017, the District had restricted fund balances as summarized below:

Public Safety	\$ 1,316,149
North International Drive Improvement	
Municipal Service Taxing Unit	12,438
Total restricted fund balances	\$1,328,587

Committed fund balances are fund balances constrained for specific purposes by formal action of the District's highest level of decision making authority. Committed fund balances are reported pursuant to resolutions approved by the Governing Board and can only be modified or rescinded through resolutions approved by the Governing Board. As of September 30, 2017, the District had no committed fund balances.

Assigned fund balances are fund balances intended to be used for specific purposes, but which are neither restricted nor committed. As of September 30, 2017, the District had no assigned fund balances.

*Unassigned* fund balances represent the residual positive fund balance within the General Fund, which has not been assigned to other funds and has not been restricted, committed, or assigned. As of September 30, 2017, the District's unassigned fund balance was \$957,414.

For purposes of fund balance classification, the District considers restricted funds to have been spent first when both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is available, followed in order by committed, assigned and unassigned amounts, as applicable.



SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE – BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

	Buc	lget	Actual	Variance with Final Budget Positive (Negative)			
	Original	Final					
Revenues							
Master service taxing units	\$ 6,415,914	\$ 6,415,914	\$ 6,468,466	\$ 52,552			
Charges for services	1,954,853	1,954,853	1,912,814	(42,039)			
Interest income	610	610	520	(90)			
Total revenues	8,371,377	8,371,377	8,381,800	10,423			
Expenditures Current							
Transportation services	5,457,783	5,457,783	4,885,001	572,782			
General government	1,170,061	1,170,061	1,028,923	141,138			
Public safety	1,263,475	1,263,475	1,234,434	29,041			
Planning and development	822,000	822,000	699,140	122,860			
Capital outlay	257,000	257,000	208,698	48,302			
Debt service	<u> </u>		8,474	(8,474)			
Total expenditures	8,970,319	8,970,319	8,064,670	905,649			
Change in fund balance	(598,942)	(598,942)	317,130	916,072			
Fund balance, beginning of year	1,994,915	1,994,915	1,994,915				
Fund balance, end of year	\$ 1,395,973	\$ 1,395,973	\$ 2,312,045	\$ 916,072			



SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE – BUDGET AND ACTUAL – MUNICIPAL SERVICE TAXING UNITS

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

	Master	it Improveme Faxing Unit	rict	International Drive Bus Service Taxing Unit							
	Budget	Actual		Variance- Positive (Negative)		Budget		Actual		P	ariance- Positive egative)
Revenues											
Master service taxing units	\$ 2,045,003	\$	2,123,008	\$	78,005	\$	4,246,358	\$	4,216,609	\$	(29,749)
Charges for services	-		2,778		2,778		1,954,853		1,910,036		(44,817)
Interest income	275		85		(190)		200		380		180
Total revenues	2,045,278		2,125,871		80,593		6,201,411		6,127,025		(74,386)
Expenditures											
Current											
Transportation services	-		-		-		5,457,783		4,885,001		572,782
General government	798,361		680,900		117,461		249,700		219,556		30,144
Public safety	1,263,475		1,234,434		29,041		-		-		-
Planning and development	106,000		22,056		83,944		716,000		672,209		43,791
Capital outlay	12,000		12,339		(339)		245,000		196,359		48,641
Debt service			8,474		(8,474)		-		-		-
Total expenditures	2,179,836		1,958,203		221,633		6,668,483		5,973,125		695,358
Changes in fund balances	(134,558)		167,668		302,226		(467,072)		153,900		620,972
Fund balance, beginning of year	492,880		492,880				1,485,159		1,485,159		
Fund balance, end of year	\$ 358,322	\$	660,548	\$	302,226	\$	1,018,087	\$	1,639,059	\$	620,972

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE – BUDGET AND ACTUAL – MUNICIPAL SERVICE TAXING UNITS

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

# **North International Drive Improvement**

	Municipal Service Taxing Unit						Totals						
					Variance- Positive							ositive	
	Budget		Actual		(Negative)		Budget		Actual		(Negative)		
Revenues													
Master service taxing units	\$	124,553	\$	128,849	\$	4,296	\$	6,415,914	\$	6,468,466	\$	52,552	
Charges for services		-		-		-		1,954,853		1,912,814		(42,039)	
Interest income		135		55		(80)		610		520		(90)	
Total revenues		124,688		128,904		4,216		8,371,377		8,381,800		10,423	
Expenditures													
Current													
Transportation services		-		-		-		5,457,783		4,885,001		572,782	
General government		122,000		128,467		(6,467)		1,170,061		1,028,923		141,138	
Public safety		-		-		-		1,263,475		1,234,434		29,041	
Planning and development		-		4,875		(4,875)		822,000		699,140		122,860	
Capital outlay		-		-		-		257,000		208,698		48,302	
Debt service		-						-		8,474		(8,474)	
Total expenditures		122,000		133,342		(11,342)		8,970,319		8,064,670		905,649	
Changes in fund balances		2,688		(4,438)		(7,126)		(598,942)		317,130		916,072	
Fund balance, beginning of year		16,876		16,876				1,994,915		1,994,915			
Fund balance, end of year	\$	19,564	\$	12,438	\$	(7,126)	\$	1,395,973	\$	2,312,045	\$	916,072	

SUPPLEMENTARY REPORTS OF INDEPENDENT AUDITOR



# Report of Independent Auditor on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

To the Advisory and Governing Board of International Drive Master Transit and Improvement District d/b/a International Drive Business Improvement District Orlando, Florida

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards* issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities and the General Fund of International Drive Master Transit and Improvement District d/b/a International Drive Business Improvement District (the "District"), a component unit of Orange County, Florida, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the District's basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated January 22, 2018.

## **Internal Control over Financial Reporting**

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the District's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the District's internal control.

A *deficiency in internal control* exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A *material weakness* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A *significant deficiency* is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

#### **Compliance and Other Matters**

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the District's financial statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

## **Purpose of this Report**

Chang Bahart us

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Orlando, Florida January 22, 2018



#### **Independent Auditor's Management Letter**

To the Advisory and Governing Board of International Drive Master Transit and Improvement District d/b/a International Drive Business Improvement District Orlando. Florida

#### **Report of the Financial Statements**

We have audited the financial statements of the International Drive Master Transit and Improvement District d/b/a International Drive Business Improvement District (the "District"), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2017, and have issued our report thereon dated January 22, 2018.

### **Auditor's Responsibility**

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General.

#### Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

We have issued our Report of Independent Auditor on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with *Government Auditing Standards*; and Report of Independent Accountant on Compliance with Local Government Investment Policies. Disclosures in those reports, which are dated January 22, 2018, should be considered in conjunction with this management letter.

## **Prior Audit Findings**

Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual financial audit report. No findings or recommendations were made in the preceding annual financial audit report.

### Official Title and Legal Authority

Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and legal authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be disclosed in this management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Such disclosure is included in the notes to the financial statements. There were no component units related to the entity.

#### **Financial Condition and Management**

Section 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether or not the District has met one or more of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the specific condition(s) met. In connection with our audit, the results of our tests did not indicate the District met any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes.

Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.c. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied financial condition assessment procedures for the District. It is management's responsibility to monitor the District's financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on representations made by management and the review of financial information provided by same.

Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any recommendations to improve financial management. In connection with our audit, we did not have any such recommendations.

### **Annual Financial Report**

Section 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether the annual financial report for the District for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, filed with the Florida Department of Financial Services pursuant to Section 218.32(1)(a), Florida Statutes, is in agreement with the annual financial audit report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017. Our comparison of these two reports resulted in no material differences.

#### **Additional Matters**

Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate noncompliance with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but warrants the attention of those charged with governance. In connection with our audit, we did not note any such findings.

### Purpose of this Letter

Chang Bahart Let

The purpose of this management letter is to communicate certain matters prescribed by Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor General. Accordingly, this management letter is not suitable for any other purpose.

Orlando, Florida January 22, 2018



### Report of Independent Accountant on Compliance With Local Government Investment Policies

To the Advisory and Governing Board of International Drive Master Transit and Improvement District d/b/a International Drive Business Improvement District Orlando, Florida

We have examined International Drive Master Transit and Improvement District d/b/a International Drive Business Improvement District's (the "District") compliance with the local government investment policy requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, during the year ended September 30, 2017. Management of the District is responsible for the District's compliance with the specified requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the District's compliance with the specified requirements based on our examination.

Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the District complied, in all material respects, with the specified requirements referenced above. An examination involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about whether the District complied with the specified requirements. The nature, timing and extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgement, including an assessment of the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error. We believe that the evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the District's compliance with the specified requirements.

In our opinion, the District complied, in all material respects, with the local investment policy requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, during the year ended September 30, 2017.

The purpose of this report is to comply with the audit requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, and Rules of the Auditor General.

Orlando, Florida January 22, 2018

Chang Bahart us

25